RECEIVED

Dec 12 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000783

1 Dragon's Ascent Video
Gaming Machine; SC Games
of Skill, LLC. Respondents,

v.

South Carolina Law
Enforcement Division (SLED) Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Adam L. Whitsett, Esquire
General Counsel
South Carolina Law Enforcement Division
Post Office Box 21398
Columbia, South Carolina 29221-1398
(803) 896-0647
S.C. Bar Number: 74888

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Does the circuit court’s interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-21-2710, which allows cash payouts on a gaming device accomplish the clear and unambiguous intent of the South Carolina Legislature to prohibit cash payouts and gambling on gaming devices?
- II. Did the circuit court’s order disregard the existing precedent set forth by the South Carolina Supreme Court in Town of Mount Pleasant v. Chimento, 401 S.C. 522, 737 S.E.2d 830 (2012), which provides that a conduct can still be illegal gambling even if skill is the predominant factor in determining the outcome?
- III. Is the circuit court’s order an improper advisory opinion that does not follow the binding Supreme Court precedent set forth in Allendale Cnty. Sheriff’s Off. v. Two Chess Challenge II, 361 S.C. 581, 606 S.E.2d 471 (2004), which mandates a machine-by-machine forfeiture process in South Carolina and prohibits rulings on future devices?
- IV. Did the circuit court’s order apply the gambling capability analysis required by South Carolina law?
- V. Does the circuit court’s order improperly render the phrase “device licensed pursuant to Section 12-21-2720 and used for gambling” in § 12-21-2710 meaningless and redundant to the phrase “other device pertaining to games of chance of whatever name or kind” in § 12-21-2710?
- VI. Is the circuit court’s appellate finding that the trial court’s interpretation of § 12-21-2710 – a statute that applies to the possession and ownership of gaming machines – could result in the prohibition of local spelling bees, the Heritage Golf Tournament, and the Governor’s Cup fishing tournament clear error?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action began with Appellant's seizure of one (1) Dragon's Ascent device on November 19, 2021. The seized device was taken to the Honorable Rad S. Deaton, a Berkeley County Magistrate, for examination in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 12-21-2712. After reviewing the device, Judge Deaton signed an Order of Destruction. However, Respondents timely challenged this order, and a post-seizure hearing on this one device was held on February 4, 2022. On August 11, 2022, Judge Deaton applied existing Supreme Court precedent and held that, although he believed that skill was the predominant factor in determining the outcome of the game, the seized device was nonetheless an illegal device on which individuals gambled, wagered, and received cash payouts in violation of South Carolina law. (Deaton Order)(R. pp. 3-15).

Respondents timely appealed Judge Deaton's decision to the circuit court. (Circuit Court Notice of Appeal)(R. pp. 35-36). Because Judge Deaton found that the machine was an illegal gambling device, Appellant did not appeal Judge Deaton's findings related to skill being the predominant factor in determining the outcome of the game.¹ The Honorable Bentley D. Price heard appellate arguments on the case on December 12, 2022. On February 27, 2023, despite acknowledging cash payouts on the device, Judge Price reversed the trial court's finding that the device was an illegal gambling device. (Price Order)(R. pp. 16-31). Appellant filed a timely Rule 59 motion to alter, amend, and reconsider, which Judge Price denied. (Motion to Reconsider)(Price Order Denying Reconsideration)(R. pp. 32-34). This appeal follows.

¹ This decision would of course be subject to future challenge in accordance with South Carolina's machine-by-machine forfeiture process that will be discussed more fully below.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

SLED received a complaint that there was a possible illegal gambling device in LG's By the Creek, which is a restaurant located in Suite 105 of 1005 Tanner Ford Blvd. in Hanahan, SC 29410 (Trial Tr. p. 89)(R. p. 215). SLED Special Agent Ryan Wood subsequently conducted three (3) separate undercover surveillance operations at this location. (Trial Tr. p. 113)(R. p. 239). During these operations, Wood wagered and gambled on the Dragon's Ascent device, received a cash payout from the play of the device, and witnessed at least one other individual receive a cash payout from the play of this device. (Trial Tr. pp. 105, 120)(R. pp. 231, 246).

Dragon's Ascent is a gaming device initiated by the insertion of U.S. Currency into a bill acceptor on the device. (Price Order p. 3)(R. p. 18). The amount inserted by the player establishes the credits that can be used by the player. *Id.* The object of the game is to use a joystick to "point and shoot" in an effort to capture dragons of varying sizes, colors, and point values that move across the play screen for the chance to win money. *Id.* The stated "Goal" of the game is to, "Shoot dragons to win credits! Credits are redeemable for cash." (Player's Guide)(R. p. 411).

The device has a "Raise Shot Cost" button that allows the player to select the value of each shot – between \$.10, .20, .50, 1.00, or 2.00 per shot. (Trial Tr. p. 92)(R. p. 218). The more the player commits to a shot, the more the player stands to win with that shot. *Id.* The device has a "Ticket Button" that the player uses to print a redeemable ticket which can be exchanged for cash." (Price Order p. 3)(R. p. 18). The prize for shooting one individual dragon - the Rainbow Dragon – was \$614, \$1,555.41, and \$1,783 at different times prior to and during the post-seizure hearing. (Trial Tr. pp. 52, 96, and 115)(R. pp.

178, 222, 241). The “Rainbow Dragon” feature is a “progressive jackpot that exhibits a monetary figure on the dragon, enticing a player to shoot that dragon to win that amount.” (Deaton Order p. 8)(R. p. 10).

The trial court also noted that “a player may successfully play Dragon’s Ascent using keen hand/eye coordination, memorization, and recognition of learned patterns, timing, accuracy in aiming, reflexes and reaction time, manual dexterity, mental aptitude, concentration, and deductive analysis.” (Deaton Order p. 8)(R. p. 10). However, the trial court found that Dragon’s Ascent is a game played predominantly in establishments that serve alcohol. While it is possible for anyone over the age of eighteen (18) to play Dragon’s Ascent, it is not probable that most Dragon’s Ascent players will exercise the dedication, patience, and deductive analysis in order to play the game successfully” *Id.* Ultimately, the trial court noted that “while Dragon’s Ascent is a game that requires a high degree of skill to master its complexities, the Court believes that it is a game designed to make money for the ‘house’ not the player, in the context of regular game play and brings with it the dire concerns referenced by Chief Justice Toal in her concurring opinion in Chimento”. *Id.*

The evidence in this matter conclusively established that a player could insert \$1.00 into the Dragon’s Ascent device, could shoot the Rainbow Dragon, and could win a \$1,783 cash payout. (Trial Tr. pp. 52, 92)(R. pp. 178, 218).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law” subject to *de novo* review. Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008).

“Upon hearing the appeal the [circuit court sitting as an] appellate court shall give judgment according to the justice of the case, without regard to technical errors and defects which do not affect the merits. In giving judgment the court may affirm or reverse the judgment of the court below, in whole or in part, as to any or all of the parties and for errors of law or fact.” S.C. Code § 18-7-170.

“[T]he Court of Appeals will presume that an affirmance by a Circuit Court of a magistrate’s judgment was made upon the merits where the testimony is sufficient to sustain the judgment of the magistrate and there are no facts that show the affirmance was influenced by an error of law.” Burns v. Wannamaker, 281 S.C. 352, 357, 315 S.E.2d 179, 182 (Ct.App.1984). However, the “Court of Appeals still retains *de novo* review of whether the facts show the circuit court’s affirmance was controlled or affected by errors of law.” Bowers v. Thomas, 373 S.C. 240, 245, 644 S.E.2d 751, 753 (Ct. App. 2007).

“At a post-seizure hearing, the burden is on the owner of the *res* [the seized device] to show why the seized property should not be forfeited and destroyed.” Union County Sheriff’s Office v. Henderson, 395 S.C. 516, 719 S.E.2d 665, 666 (2011).

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the legislature and to accomplish that intent. Hawkins v. Bruno Yacht Sales, Inc., 353 S.C. 31, 39, 577 S.E.2d 202, 207 (2003).

ARGUMENTS

1. The circuit court's interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-21-2710, which allows cash payouts on a gaming device, does not accomplish the clear and unambiguous intent of the South Carolina Legislature to prohibit cash payouts and gambling on gaming devices.

The circuit court erroneously disregarded the clear and unambiguous intent of the South Carolina Legislature by specifically allowing cash payouts for the play of the device in question. The intent of the South Carolina Legislature in passing S.C. Code Ann. § 12-21-2710 (§ 12-21-2710), particularly the amendments enacted in 1999, was to specifically **prohibit** cash payouts on devices in South Carolina. These amendments also famously brought an end to video poker and the havoc it had wreaked on the State of South Carolina for years. The circuit court's order disregards the Legislative intent and seemingly ignores the dark history of cash payouts on devices and the damage that resulted therefrom in South Carolina. Accordingly, the circuit court's decision to allow cash payouts on devices, which may well usher in a new era of gambling on gaming devices in South Carolina, must be reversed. *See* Hawkins v. Bruno Yacht Sales, Inc., 353 S.C. 31, 39, 577 S.E.2d 202, 207 (2003) ("The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the legislature and to accomplish that intent."); Kiriakides v. United Artists Communications, Inc., 312 S.C. 271, 275, 440 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1994) ("All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that the legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute."); Key Corporate Capital, Inc. v. County of Beaufort, 373 S.C. 55, 59, 644 S.E.2d 675 (2007) ("[I]t is beyond this Court's power to effect a change in the statutes enacted by the Legislature.").

In 1999, the South Carolina Legislature passed 1999 S.C. Act 125 to specifically put an end to cash payouts on gaming devices in South Carolina. The introductory language of this Act provides a clear recitation of the explicit intent of the South Carolina Legislature in this regard. This bill was,

AN ACT TO AMEND SECTIONS 12-21-2710, AS AMENDED, 12-21-2712, 12-21-2720, AS AMENDED, AND 12-21-2726, AS AMENDED, CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976, RELATING TO COIN-OPERATED MACHINES OR DEVICES, SO AS TO EXTEND THE PROHIBITION ON SLOT MACHINES AND OTHER MACHINES OR DEVICES PERTAINING TO GAMES OF CHANCE TO VIDEO GAMES WITH A FREE PLAY FEATURE OR ANY OTHER COIN-OPERATED MACHINE OR DEVICE USED FOR GAMBLING, TO EXTEND THE SEIZURE AND DESTRUCTION PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO GAMES OF CHANCE TO THESE EXPANDED PROHIBITIONS,...

AND TO REPEAL SECTIONS 12-21-2703, 16-19-60, AND ARTICLE 20, CHAPTER 21 OF TITLE 12 RELATING RESPECTIVELY TO THE RETAIL LICENSE REQUIREMENT FOR A LOCATION WITH VIDEO GAMES WITH A FREE PLAY FEATURE, THE EXEMPTION OF VIDEO GAMES WITH A FREE PLAY FEATURE FROM THE GAMBLING OFFENSES, AND THE VIDEO GAMES MACHINES ACT, ALL OF THE ABOVE ENACTED FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROHIBITING CASH PAYOUTS FOR CREDITS EARNED ON VIDEO GAME MACHINES ON AND AFTER JULY 1, 2000;....(emphasis added).

Should this clear language not be enough evidence the intent of the Legislature, “PART I” of this bill is also specifically entitled “**Prohibition on Payouts**”. 1999 S.C. Act 125 (emphasis added).

In Westside Quik Shop v. Stewart, the South Carolina Supreme Court acknowledged the purpose of the 1999 amendments to § 12-21-2710 indicating:

[f]inally in an extra session called by the Governor in June 1999 S.C. Act No. 125 providing for a November referendum to be held statewide to decide the fate of video gaming. Voters would be asked whether cash payouts for video gaming machines should continue to be allowed after June 30, 2000. If voters answered “no,” Part 1 of the Act would become effective

July 1, 2000. **This part of the Act repeals § 16-19-60, which allows nonmachine cash payouts, and amends S.C. Code Ann. § 12-21-2710 (2000) to remove the exception for video gaming machines, thereby rendering the possession of these machines illegal....** Further, under S.C. Code Ann. § 12-21-2712 (2000), these machines are then subject to forfeiture and destruction by the State.... Before the referendum was held, an action was brought challenging its constitutionality. After taking the case in our original jurisdiction in October 1999, this Court struck down the referendum, but severed it from the remaining parts of the Act. Specifically, we found Part I, which bans the possession or operation of these machines, to be a free standing legislative enactment and therefore valid. Joytime Distrib. and Amusement Co. v. State, 338 S.C. 364, 528 S.E.2d 647 (1999). **Accordingly, on July 1, [2000] under § 12-21-2710 and -2712, these machines will become contraband subject to forfeiture and destruction regardless of their use or operability.**

341 S.C. 297, 301-2, 534 S.E.2d 270, 272 (2000) *overruled on other grounds by* Byrd v. City of Hartsville, 365 S.C. 650, 620 S.E.2d 76 (2005).(emphasis added). The Supreme Court also specified that

The plain language of the statute [§ 12-21-2710] makes clear the legislature’s intent to outlaw mere possession of such machines. The statute makes it unlawful “for any person to keep on his premises *or* operate” certain gambling machines. S.C. Code Ann. § 12–21–2710 (Supp.1998) (emphasis added); *see also* State v. Appley, 207 S.C. 284, 288, 35 S.E.2d 835, 836 (1945) (possession of a machine is a violation in itself, separate from the crime of operation). **The circuit court correctly ruled possession of these machines is illegal, regardless of their intended use or operation.**

State v. 192 Coin-Operated Video Game Machines, 338 S.C. 176, 187-89, 525 S.E.2d 872, 878-79 (2000)(emphasis added). Accordingly, it is without question that the Legislature amended § 12-21-2710 in 1999 for the express purpose of prohibiting cash payouts.

However, despite this clear and unambiguous Legislative intent directly to the contrary, the circuit court’s order specifically allows for cash payouts for the play of this gaming device. To that end, the circuit court’s order openly acknowledges that “the game also features a “Ticket Button” that the player uses to print a redeemable receipt which the

player can exchange for cash.” (Price Order p. 4)(R. p. 19). In fact, the evidence in this matter indicated a player could win more than \$1,783 for the play of this machine. (Trial Tr. p. 52)(R. p. 178). Cash payouts did not matter to the circuit court. Rather, the circuit court interpreted the statute enacted “for the purpose of prohibiting cash payouts for credits earned on video game machines...” to allow cash payouts for credits earned on a video game machine. This is not only clear and reversible error, but it also absurdly results in the tacit allowance of gambling on a gaming device in direct contravention of South Carolina’s longstanding prohibitions on such. *See* 1999 S.C. Act 125 *see also* Lancaster Cnty. Bar Ass’n v. S.C. Comm’n on Indigent Def., 380 S.C. 219, 222, 670 S.E.2d 371, 373 (2008) (courts “will reject an interpretation when such an interpretation leads to an absurd result that could not have been intended by the legislature.”); Keyserling v. Beasley, 322 S.C. 83, 86, 470 S.E.2d 100, 101 (1996) (courts do “not sit as a superlegislature to second guess the wisdom or folly of decisions of the General Assembly”).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has long acknowledged that it “consistently has deferred to the Legislature’s determination of which gaming devices must be sacrificed for the public welfare. Furthermore, forfeiture serves a deterrent purpose both by preventing the further illicit use of the property and by imposing an economic penalty, thereby rendering the illegal behavior unprofitable.” Westside Quik Shop, Inc. v. Stewart, 341 S.C. 297, 303-4, 534 S.E.2d 270, 272 (2000) *overruled on other grounds by* Byrd v. City of Hartsville, 365 S.C. 650, 620 S.E.2d 76 (2005) *see also* S.C. Const. Art. I, § 8 (mandating separation of powers). This rationale acknowledges the exclusive policymaking role of the South Carolina Legislature. *See* Wilson ex rel. State v. City of Columbia, 434 S.C. 206,

213, 863 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2021) (“Where, as here, the General Assembly establishes policy via legislation, it is our solemn duty to uphold that law absent a clear constitutional infirmity.”)

In South Carolina, S.C. Code Ann. § 12-21-2710 is the South Carolina Legislature’s determination of the types of machines and devices that are prohibited. It states in pertinent part:

It is unlawful for any person to keep on his premises or operate or permit to be kept on his premises or operated within this State any vending or slot machine, or any video game machine with a free play feature operated by a slot in which is deposited a coin or thing of value, or other device operated by a slot in which is deposited a coin or thing of value for the play of poker, blackjack, keno, lotto, bingo, or craps, or any machine **or device licensed pursuant to Section 12-21-2720 and used for gambling** or any punch board, pull board, or other device pertaining to games of chance of whatever name or kind, including those machines, boards, or other devices that display different pictures, words, or symbols, at different plays or different numbers, whether in words or figures or, which deposit tokens or coins at regular intervals or in varying numbers to the player or in the machine, but the provisions of this section do not extend to coin-operated nonpayout pin tables, in-line pin games, or to automatic weighing, measuring, musical, and vending machines which are constructed as to give a certain uniform and fair return in value for each coin deposited and in which there is no element of chance....

The plain language of this statute prohibits all “device[s] licensed pursuant to Section 12-21-2720 and used for gambling....” Accordingly, the Legislature has established and long maintained a clear and unambiguous policy determination that gambling on gaming machines is illegal in South Carolina. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 12-21-2710. The circuit court decision erroneously disregards this longstanding and clear Legislative policy and inexplicably opens to the door to conduct that South Carolina law was specifically designed to prohibit. Accordingly, this order should be reversed in its entirety. *See Wilson ex rel. State v. City of Columbia*, 434 S.C. 206, 213, 863 S.E.2d 456, 460 (2021).

It is also noteworthy that, while § 12-21-2710 has been amended since 1999, the Legislative policy decision to prohibit cash payouts on gaming devices has not changed. In May of 2022, the Legislature amended § 12-21-2710 to allow federally licensed South Carolina gaming device manufacturers to produce and sell items to out-of-state jurisdictions. *See* 2022 Act No. 190. However, this amendment did not change the clear prohibition on machines or devices used for gambling nor did it authorize cash payouts on machines in South Carolina. Moreover, there have been specific attempts to legislatively legalize gambling of “games of skill” in South Carolina. In fact, House Minority Leader Todd Rutherford filed former House Bill 4521 on November 11, 2021, which would have done exactly that. However, this effort was rejected by the Legislature, which only further signifies the tacit Legislative intent to prohibit cash payouts – even on games of skill.

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