RECEIVED

Dec 04 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000783

1 Dragon's Ascent Video Gaming
Machine; SC Games of Skill, Inc., Respondents,

v.

South Carolina Law
Enforcement Division, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

William W. Wilkins, SC Bar No. 6112
Kirsten E. Small, SC Bar No. 75681
MAYNARD NEXSEN, PC
104 S. Main Street, Suite 900
Greenville, SC 29601
Telephone: 864.370.2211
Facsimile: 864.282.1177
BWilkins@maynardnexsen.com
KSmall@maynardnexsen.com

Additional counsel listed inside front cover

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The order of the circuit court should be affirmed. There is no dispute here that Dragon's Ascent is a game of skill. (See Brief of Appellant ("SLED Br.") at 2.) The circuit court correctly ruled that as a game of skill, Dragon's Ascent is legal under S.C. Code Ann. § 12-21-2710. Attempting to change this result, SLED rehashes arguments that were considered and rejected by the circuit court. SLED also presents an argument raised *for the first time* in its motion to alter or amend, contending that the title of 1999 S.C. Act 125 ("Act 125") shows that the General Assembly's purpose in amending § 12-21-2710 was to prohibit any "cash payout," regardless of whether the game is one of skill or chance. (R. 110-124 (Notice of Motion and Motion to Alter, Amend, and Reconsider).) This argument, raised for the first time on reconsideration, is not properly before the Court. Additionally, it is meritless. SLED's new "legislative purpose" theory disregards settled rules of statutory construction and flies in the face of decisions by the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court holding that games of skill are legal under § 12-21-2710.

SLED's other arguments for reversal are equally without merit. Accordingly, this Court should affirm.

ARGUMENT

I. SLED's Argument Based on the Title of Act 125 Is Unpreserved and Meritless

SLED argues at length that in enacting Act 125, the General Assembly intended “to specifically put an end to cash payouts on gaming devices” like Dragon’s Ascent, regardless of whether skill or chance predominates in the outcome.⁸ (SLED Br. at 7.) In making this argument, SLED relies not on the *text* of § 12-21-2710, but on the *title* of Act 125—the act that amended the statute. This argument fails, however. First, it is not properly before the Court because it was raised by SLED for the first time on reconsideration. Second, SLED’s reliance on the legislative title contravenes established rules of statutory construction and decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court.

A. This Argument Is Not Properly Before the Court

“The purpose of [a motion under] Rule 59(e), SCRPC, to alter or amend the judgment is to request the trial judge to reconsider matters properly encompassed in a decision on the merits.” *Arnold v. State*, 309 S.C. 157, 172, 420 S.E.2d 834, 842 (1992) (internal quotation marks omitted). A Rule 59(e) motion “allow[s] a party one final chance not only to call the court’s attention to a possible misapprehension of an earlier argument, but also to revisit a previously raised argument.” *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 22, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779 (2004). However, a Rule 59(e) motion is not an

⁸ SLED does not dispute that Dragon’s Ascent is a game of skill, as found by the magistrate court and by the circuit court.

opportunity for the losing party to raise *new* arguments in hopes of getting a better result. “An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.” *Johnson v. Sonoco Prod. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009); see *Com. Credit Loans, Inc. v. Riddle*, 334 S.C. 176, 186, 512 S.E.2d 123, 129 (Ct. App. 1999) (“[I]t appears the first time Commercial Credit made this argument was in its Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration. Accordingly, this issue is not properly preserved for our review.”).

SLED’s argument based on the title of Act 125 was asserted for the first time in its motion to alter or amend. Accordingly, it is not properly before the Court and should not be considered.

B. The Argument is Meritless

Apart from being procedurally improper, SLED’s argument based on the title of Act 125 is wholly without merit. First, SLED’s argument is contrary to established rules of statutory construction. “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000); see *Kirakides v. United Artists Commc’ns, Inc.*, 312 S.C. 271, 275, 440 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1994). Moreover, it is a well-established rule that the *primary* source of legislative intent is the statutory text. As our Supreme Court has explained, “[T]his Court will look *first* to the language of the statute to discern legislative intent, because *the language itself is the best guide to legislative intent.*” *Whitner v. State*, 328 S.C. 1, 9, 492 S.E.2d 777, 781 (1997) (emphasis added); see also, e.g., *Connelly v. Main St. Am. Grp.*, 439 S.C. 81, 89, 886 S.E.2d 196, 200 (2023) (“[T]he language used in the statute is generally considered to be the best evidence of the legislature’s intent.”); *State v. Scott*, 351 S.C.

584, 588, 571 S.E.2d 700, 702 (2002) (“What a legislature says in the text of a statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent or will.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

Contrary to SLED’s argument, the title of a statute is not a primary source of legislative intent, but only a secondary one. “[T]he title of a statute and heading of a section are of use only when they shed light on some ambiguous word or phrase and as tools available for resolution of doubt.” *Garner v. Houck*, 312 S.C. 481, 486, 435 S.E.2d 847, 849 (1993). Under no circumstance can the title of a statute be used to limit or contradict the legislative intent as expressed in the statutory text. “Although the title and headings are part of the statute, they may not be construed to limit the plain meaning of the text ... *they cannot undo or limit what the text makes plain.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Here, SLED would have this Court disregard the text of § 12-21-2710, and even the statutory title (“Types of machines and devices prohibited by law; penalties”), and instead glean legislative intent from the title of Act 125, the bill used to amend § 12-21-2710. Plucking a single phrase out of the 975-word title of Act 125 (“all of the above enacted for the purpose of prohibiting cash payouts for credits earned on video game machines on or after July 1, 2000”), SLED contends that the General Assembly’s purpose in Act 125 was to prohibit *all* cash payouts, regardless of whether a game is one of skill or chance. However, SLED fails to identify any ambiguity in § 12-21-2710 that justifies looking to the title of Act 125, rather than the statutory text, to discern the legislative purpose. See *Whitner*, 328 S.C. at 9, 492 S.E.2d at 781 (holding that the

statutory language is the best guide to legislative intent).

SLED's argument also cannot be squared with post-amendment decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court holding that a machine's legality under § 12-21-2710 turns on whether the game is one of skill or chance, not on whether there is a cash payout. *See Ward v. West Oil Co.*, 387 S.C. 268, 278, 692 S.E.2d 516, 521-22 (2010) (holding that "pull-tab" games violate S.C. Code Ann. § 12-21-2710 because they "created an element of chance"); *Allendale Cty. Sheriff's Office v. Two Chess Challenge II*, 361 S.C. 581, 583, 606 S.E.2d 471, 472 (2004) (recognizing that "games of skill ... are lawful to possess"); *Sun Light Prepaid Phonecard Co. v. State*, 360 S.C. 49, 54, 600 S.E.2d 61, 64 (2004) (holding that phone card dispensers violated § 12-21-2710 because they "present[ed] the element of chance"); *S.C. Dep't of Revenue v. Meenaxi, Inc.*, 417 S.C. 639, 658, 790 S.E.2d 792, 802 (Ct. App. 2016) (holding that machines violated § 12-21-2710 because they "contained games of chance"); *S.C. Law Enf't Div. v. 1-Speedmaster S/N 00218*, 397 S.C. 94, 99-100, 723 S.E.2d 809, 812 (Ct. App. 2011) (holding that games of chance are illegal under § 12-21-2710, but games of skill are legal).⁹

For more than 20 years, our Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have interpreted and applied § 12-21-2710 as creating a dividing line between *illegal* games

⁹ SLED's argument that the General Assembly intended to prohibit any machine that provides a cash payout is inconsistent with its position in *Speedmaster* and other cases that legality under § 12-21-2710 turns on whether a game is one of skill or chance under the "dominant factor" test. *See, e.g.*, Final Brief of Appellant S.C. Law Enf't Div., *S.C. Law Enf't Div. v. 1-Speedmaster S/N 00218* (filed May 20, 2009 (arguing that "[t]he proper test to use in determining whether a game is a game of skill or chance is the dominant factor test" and contending that the Speedmaster game was illegal because the outcome was not within the player's control)).

of chance and *legal* games of skill. Indeed, SLED itself has maintained, time and time again, that whether a machine is illegal under § 12-21-2710 depends upon whether it involves a game of skill, not whether it involves a “payout.” In order to accept SLED’s argument based on the title of Act 125, this Court would have to hold that all of the decisions relying on skill vs. chance to determine legality under § 12-21-2710 were wrongly decided.

II. *Chimento* Did Not Change the Meaning of “Gambling” in South Carolina

SLED next contends that the Supreme Court’s decision in *Chimento, supra*, established a *universally* applicable “statutory meaning of the word gambling *in South Carolina*” and that the decision in *Chimento* was *not* limited to the context of § 16-19-40. (SLED Br. at 12 (internal quotation marks omitted; emphasis in original).) To the contrary, the majority in *Chimento* repeatedly made clear that its holding is limited to criminal convictions under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-19-40. *See Chimento*, 401 S.C. at 531, 737 S.E.2d at 836 (“The circuit court ... [held] that ‘gaming’ *as used in § 16-19-40* applies only to betting on games of chance[.]” (emphasis added)); *id.* at 532, 737 S.E.2d at 837 (describing issue as “whether ... betting on a card game ... is unlawful gaming” and citing, *inter alia*, § 16-19-40); *id.* (“Under the plain language *of § 16-19-40*, gambling on a game of skill is a violation if that gambling is being done in a prohibited location.” (emphasis added)); *id.* (“A violation *of the gaming prohibition of § 16-19-40* does not depend on whether the particular game involves more skill than chance.” (emphasis added)); *id.* at 533, 737 S.E.2d at 837 (“[T]here is precedent that indicates § 16-19-40 is

concerned with wagering regardless of the skill involved in the game wagered upon.” (emphasis added)); *id.* (“We hold that one ‘games’ *within the meaning of § 16-19-40* when money is wagered on Texas Hold’em, even though it is a game in which skill predominates.” (emphasis added)).

Moreover, SLED completely ignores that the Attorney General,¹⁰ as well as courts at every level of South Carolina’s court system,¹¹ have *all* applied *the dominant factor test* to determine the legality of a video game, even *after Chimento* was decided in 2012. Simply put, *Chimento* has *never* been cited for the proposition that *all* video games that involve consideration and a potential prize or reward are illegal, even if the outcome is determined by the player’s skill. Rather, South Carolina courts at every level have *only* cited *Chimento* for the entirely unrelated subject of standards for constitutional challenges to statutory provisions.¹² Notably, one of these cases involved

¹⁰ See Op. S.C. Atty Gen., 2017 WL 4707542 (S.C.A.G. Oct. 11, 2017) (stating that “South Carolina gambling laws” prohibit “games of chance”).

¹¹ See **Administrative Law Court:** *S.C. Dep’t of Revenue v. Chestnut*, 2021 WL 4822858, at *6 (S.C. Admin. Law Ct. Oct. 8, 2021) (stating that “games of chance [are] prohibited by [S.C. Code Ann.] § 12-21-2710”); **Court of Common Pleas:** *Smith*, 2013 WL 8477943, at *2 (“[A]n apparatus is a gambling device where there is anything of value to be won or lost as the result of chance[.]” (internal quotation marks omitted)); **Court of Appeals:** *Meenaxi*, 417 S.C. at 658, 790 S.E.2d at 802 (“[T]he Department showed the Products Direct and Gift Surplus machines contained games of chance in violation of section 12-21-2710[.]”); **Supreme Court:** *Richland Cty. Sheriff’s Dep’t v. Awde*, No. 2014-MO-024, 2014 WL 3016205, at *1 (S.C. July 2, 2014) (affirming magistrate court’s finding “that two ‘Chess Challenge II’ devices before it were games of skill”).

¹² **Supreme Court:** *S.C. Human Affairs Comm’n v. Zeyi Chen*, 430 S.C. 509, 531, 846 S.E.2d 861, 872 (2020) (vagueness); *State v. Legg*, 416 S.C. 9, 14 n.4, 785 S.E.2d 369, 371 n.4 (2016) (facial challenge); *S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Michelle G.*, 407 S.C. 499, 506–07, 757 S.E.2d 388, 392–93 (2014) (facial challenge). **Court of Appeals:** *Rutter v. City of Columbia Design/Dev. Rev. Comm’n*, 2021 WL 2701549, at *3 (S.C. Ct. App. June 30, 2021)

a determination of whether a video machine was legal under § 12-21-2710, which the circuit court decided under *the dominant factor test* and *did not* hold that the machine was illegal under *Chimento* simply because it involved payment of consideration. See *Smith v. S.C. Law Enf't Div.*, 2013 WL 8477943, at *2-3 (S.C. Ct. Com. Pl., Anderson County, Nov. 6, 2013) (finding game illegal under § 12-21-2710 as a device “pertaining to games of chance”).

That *Chimento's* holding is limited to § 16-19-40 – and specifically does not apply to § 12-21-2710 – becomes clearer upon review of the concurrence written by Chief Justice Toal and the dissent written by Justice Hearn, joined by Justice Kittredge. In her concurrence, Chief Justice Toal criticized § 16-19-40 as “hopelessly outdated, as it applies to *any* gaming activity (including *all* card games) played in a residential house whether wagering occurs or not.” *Id.* at 538, 737 S.E.2d at 840 (Toal, C.J., concurring) (emphasis in original).

Chief Justice Toal also “agree[d] wholeheartedly” with the dissent’s conclusion that § 16-19-40 is unconstitutionally void for vagueness because it delegates too much discretion to law enforcement to decide whether the statute has been violated. *Id.* at 536, 737 S.E.2d at 839 (Toal, C.J., concurring); see 547-552, 737 S.E.2d at 845-847 (Hearn, J., dissenting). She wrote, however, that she joined the majority because “we cannot sever

(vagueness). **Circuit Courts:** *Retail Servs. & Sys., Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Rev.*, 2014 WL 12692755, at *2 (S.C. Com. Pl., Aiken County, May 29, 2014) (as-applied challenge); *Smith*, 2013 WL 8477943, at *11 (citing vagueness). **Administrative Law Courts:** *Hyndman v. Charleston Cty. Assessor*, 2013 WL 1786476, at *3 (S.C. Admin. Law Ct. Apr. 18, 2013) (as-applied challenge).

the language, ‘a house used as a place of gaming,’ from section 16-19-40 without striking the provision in its entirety,” which she feared would “open the door wide to all heretofore illegal gaming practices in this state, *including video poker.*” *Id.* at 537, 737 S.E.2d at 839-40 (Toal, C.J., concurring) (second emphasis added).

In her dissent, Justice Hearn explained why Chief Justice Toal’s concern was misplaced:

I cannot comprehend [Chief Justice Toal’s] concern that if any part of the statute is held unconstitutional, a parade of horrors will ensue, including the resurrection of video poker. The prohibition of video poker is found in Section 12-21-2710 of the South Carolina Code (2000). This is a *completely separate section (and title) of the code* and makes no reference at all to section 16-19-40. In fact, *it is entirely independent and separate from the general gambling prohibitions involved here.* Striking section 16-19-40 in whole or in part would have no impact on section 12-21-2710.

Id. at 552, 737 S.E.2d at 848 (Hearn, J., dissenting) (emphasis added). Notably, the majority opinion did not challenge Justice Hearn on this point. Indeed, § 12-21-2710 is never even cited in the majority opinion.

That *Chimento* does not impact the application of § 12-21-2710 is confirmed by *Richland County Sheriff’s Department v. Awde*, No. 2014-MO-024, 2014 WL 3016205 (S.C. July 2, 2014) (per curiam), decided by the same five justices who decided *Chimento* only two years earlier. In *Awde*, the Court unanimously affirmed a magistrate court’s “finding that two ‘Chess Challenge II’ devices before it were legal games of skill.” *Id.* The parties’ briefs raised arguments concerning, *inter alia*, the “used for gambling”

prong of § 12-21-2710.¹³ If the Supreme Court had intended *Chimento* to apply when determining the legality of a machine under § 12-21-2710, it surely would not have issued an affirmance in *Awde*. The fact that the Court affirmed—in an unpublished, per curiam opinion—strongly indicates that the “wagering” test used in *Chimento* does *not* apply to the analysis of whether a game is legal under § 12-21-2710.

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